4-26-2012

# State v. Tankovich Appellant's Brief 1 Dckt. 38813

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Nature of the Case

William Michael Tankovich, Jr., appeals from his judgment of conviction for malicious harassment and conspiracy to commit malicious harassment. Mr. Tankovich was found guilty and the district court imposed concurrent unified sentences of five years, with two years fixed, and suspended the sentences and placed Mr. Tankovich on probation. Mr. Tankovich now appeals, and he asserts that the district court erred by permitting an expert witness to testify regarding the meaning of Mr. Tankovich's tattoos because the testimony suggested that Mr. Tankovich was a member of a gang or had been to prison, which is both not relevant and unfairly prejudicial.

### Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

Mr. Tankovich was charged by Indictment with one count of malicious harassment and conspiracy to commit harassment. (R., p.1.) Specifically, with regard to count I, the Indictment alleged that, on August 16<sup>th</sup>, 2009, Mr. Tankovich,

did maliciously and with specific intent to intimidate or harass another person because of that person's race and/or color and/or ancestry and/or national origin, threaten by word or act or cause physical injury to another person, to wit: Kenneth Reuenta, giving said person reasonable cause to believe the action would occur, or did aid and abet in the commission of said offense.

(R., pp.1-2.) With regard to count II, the Indictment alleged that, on August 16<sup>th</sup>, 2009, Mr. Tankovich, "[d]id unlawfully, willfully and knowingly conspire and/or agree with Frank James Tankovich and/or Ira Gino Tankovich to commit the crime of Malicious Harassment, in violation of I.C. § 18-7902." (R., p.2.) The Indictment alleged three overt acts:

1. On or about the 16<sup>th</sup> day of August, 2009, Ira Gino Tankovich made contact with Kenneth Reuenta and maliciously and with the specific intent to intimidate or harass Kenneth Reuenta because of his race and/or color and/or ancestry and/or national origin, made disparaging racial remarks to Kenneth Reuenta at Kenneth Reuenta's home;
2. On or about the 16<sup>th</sup> day of August, 2009, after Ira Gino Tankovich had made contact with Kenneth Reuenta, he returned to Kenneth Reuenta's home with a firearm to cause physical injury to Kenneth Reuenta and/or threaten by word or act to cause physical injury to Kenneth Reuenta, giving said person reasonable cause to believe the action would occur;
3. On or about the 16<sup>th</sup> day of August, 2009, after Ira Gino Tankovich had made contact with Kenneth Reuenta, William Michael Tankovich, Jr. and Frank James Tankovich returned to Kenneth Reuenta's home and maliciously and with the specific intent to intimidate or harass Kenneth Reuenta because of his race and/or color and/or ancestry and/or national origin, made disparaging racial remarks to Kenneth Reuenta and did threaten by word or act to cause physical injury to Kenneth Reuenta, giving said person reasonable cause to believe the action would occur.

(R., pp.1-2.) The State then moved for joinder of Mr. Tankovich's case with those of Frank and Ira Tankovich. (R., pp.35, 55-66.) The district court granted an initial joinder with the understanding that the defendants could seek relief from prejudicial joinder at a later time. (R., pp.69, 75.) Mr. Tankovich subsequently filed a motion for relief from improper/prejudicial joinder. (R., p.73.)

The State filed a notice of intent to introduce 404(b) evidence. (R., p.79.) The State asserted the following:

The vehicle the defendants traveled together in at the onset of this incident and in which they arrived at the victim's home was a pickup truck with one or more swastikas drawn on the vehicle as well as the words "born to kill." Ira Tankovich has tattoos on his legs that spell "Aryan Pride." William Tankovich has "SS" lightning bolts tattooed on his body. It is common knowledge that swastikas, Aryans and Nazi symbols are indicative of racial hostility. Thus, such evidence is probative in terms of whether the threat that was issued to the victim in this matter was done so because of the victim's race or color. Evidence that all three defendants traveled to the victim's house in a vehicle that had a swastika or swastikas

on it and that two of the three defendants' [sic] have racially symbolic tattoos is certainly relevant to the issue of whether this matter was influenced by the victim's race. As such, said evidence should be admissible at trial.

(R., pp.80-81.) The State also sought to introduce co-conspirator statements.

(R., p.84.)

Mr. Tankovich moved to dismiss the Indictment, but did not identify a specific ground; the request was based upon grounds to be established upon completion of the grand jury transcript. (R., p.53.) He supplemented this motion with a brief. (R., p.91.) Mr. Tankovich alleged several grounds for dismissal: 1) the State failed to preserve the record and exhibits from the grand jury proceeding; 2) the prosecutor committed misconduct; 3) the State failed to prevent inadmissible evidence from being presented to the jurors; and 4) the State failed to excuse Juror 38. (R., pp.91-100).

The State filed a motion in limine, seeking to exclude a reference to the charged offenses as felonies or misdemeanors, and objecting to any reference of a domestic dispute between Mr. and Mrs. Requena that occurred on March 3, 2010, or to Mr. Requena's prior felony convictions. (R., pp.145-46.) Mr. Tankovich objected, asserting that the motion was untimely and that the evidence the State sought to exclude was relevant and admissible. (R., p.153.) He then filed a motion to compel evidence relating to a disturbing the peace charge, where, according to Mr. Tankovich, the Tankovich's were the victims of Mr. Requena's conduct. (R., p.155.)

Mr. Tankovich then filed a second motion to dismiss, asserting that the State had failed to disclose timely: 1) police reports regarding an aggravated assault committed by Mrs. Requena against her husband, in which he stated exculpatory evidence regarding the present case; 2) police reports from the disturbing the peace case; 3) Mr. Requena's criminal history; 4) the information in the State's supplemental discovery

response; and 5) photographs purported to be taken of the Tankovich's residence disclosed by the State on March 12, 2010. (R., p.159.)

The district court addressed the pretrial motions on March 25, 2010. The district court denied the motion to dismiss the indictment, and held that evidence of the tattoos was admissible. (Tr., p.174, Ls.1-12.) The court also kept the trials joined. (Tr., p.176, Ls.1-3.) The court, did, however, strike the first overt act from the information. (Tr., p.161, Ls.11-16.)

The case went to trial on March 29, 2010. On March 30, after just one witness had testified, the district court granted a mistrial due to the fact that the prosecutor misrepresented the reason for seeking admission of a 911 call. (Tr., p.456, Ls.14-17.) The defendants then moved to dismiss the case with prejudice, asserting that the prosecutor deliberately triggered a mistrial and, therefore, double jeopardy should preclude another trial. (Tr., p.459, Ls.21-25.) The district court denied the motion and the case proceeded to trial for the second time.

At the second trial, Ira Tankovich was found guilty of conspiracy to disturb the peace, and the jury hung on the counts regarding Frank and William Tankovich. (Tr., p.1467, Ls.1-20.) The case proceeded to trial for a third time.

Rolaine Brunelle was the first witness. She was a neighbor of Kenneth and Kimberly Requena. (Tr., p.1721, Ls.1-6.) She testified that on August 16, 2009, she saw a truck parked by a stop sign, and she saw three men jump out of the truck and approach the Requena house. (Tr., p.1723, Ls.1-7.) She stated that the men got to the edge of the driveway; she believed that the men from the vehicle and Mr. Requene were shouting at each other. (Tr., p.1726, Ls.12-15.) She believed this went on for about 10 minutes before the men got in the truck and left. (Tr., p.1726, Ls.17-25.)

Police officers then came to the Requena house and eventually left; Ms. Brunelle then saw two of the men return with a pit bull on a chain. (Tr., p.1727, Ls.10-17.) She called 911 when she saw the two men approaching. (Tr., p.1728, Ls.10-14.) The police then returned to the Requena house. (Tr., p.1730, Ls.18-20.) She then saw another man approaching the house from another direction. (Tr., p.1731, Ls.1-20.) She reported a "lot of arguing with the police and with the Requenas and back and forth bantering." (Tr., p.1732, Ls.23-25.) She stated that, while she could not make out any words, the two men who approached the Requena house were yelling. (Tr., p.1733, Ls.1-12.)

Kenneth Requena testified next. Mr. Requena had a business, A.K. Electric, and he parked his vehicle outside the garage. (Tr., p.1753, Ls.20-25.) He testified that at approximately 4 pm on August 16, 2009, he and his wife were standing in front the garage smoking when a green pickup truck drove by. (Tr., p.1756, Ls.9-13.) The vehicle had a swastika on it and the individuals in the vehicle were staring at him. (Tr., p.1756, Ls.16-21.) Because they kept staring at him, Mr. Requena looked at his wife and lifted his hands and gestured, "what the fuck?" (Tr., p.1757, Ls.5-7.) The vehicle was at the stop sign when Mr. Requena made the gesture; according to Mr. Requena, "they stopped, threw it in reverse, I heard skidding a little, and they stopped in front of my house." (Tr., p.1757, Ls.9-12.)

Mr. Requena heard one of the men yell, "hey, come over here," and three of the men "charged out." (Tr., p.1758, Ls.1-3.) He did not approach the vehicle because he was afraid. (Tr., p.1758, Ls.8-9.) Mr. Requena stated that the men began to charge him, and he told his wife to go inside, call 911, and get the gun. (Tr., p.1758, Ls.12-14.) Mr. Requena acknowledged that this gesture could be taken as a sign of aggression.

(Tr., p.1774, Ls.16-20.) His wife handed him the gun and he cocked it so that they could see it. (Tr., p.1758, Ls.16-18.) Mr. Requena stated that the men stopped when they saw the gun; Mr. Requena kept the gun at his right side. (Tr., p.1759, Ls.9-13.) According to Mr. Requena, the men began to yell that he had "fucked up and that they were gonna come back, and they started to go back to their vehicle." (Tr., p.1759, Ls.19-21.) Mr. Requena identified Frank Tankovich and William Tankovich; Frank was the driver and William was a passenger. (Tr., p.1760, Ls.1-17.) Ira Tankovich was also identified as one of the men. (Tr., p.1761, Ls.5-6.)

After the individuals left in the pickup truck, the police arrived. (Tr., p.1761, Ls.22-25.) Mr. Requena gave them a report and they left. (Tr., p.1762, Ls.4-6.) However, about 20 minutes later, Mr. Requena saw Frank and William Tankovich coming toward his house with a pit bull; he told his wife to call 911 again and to get the gun. (Tr., p.1762, Ls.20-24.) Mr. Requena testified that they came to the tip of the driveway and "told me that I had fucked up and they were gonna fuck me up." (Tr., p.1764, Ls.7-10.) He also saw Ira Tankovich approach from another direction, but after the police approached he turned and threw the gun into the grass. (Tr., p.1766, Ls.18-24.)

The police arrived and questioned William and Frank. (Tr., p.1768, Ls.20-22.) Mr. Requena testified that they began calling him a "fuckin' beaner and a fuckin' terrorist." (Tr., p.1769, Ls.6-7.) He said that they kept saying, "we're gonna get that fuckin' beaner. Don't worry. We'll take care of him." (Tr., p.1769, Ls.13-17.) William Tankovich told the officers that he was upset that Mr. Requena had pulled a gun on him and asked that Mr. Requena be arrested. (Tr., p.1784, Ls.2-14.) Eventually, the police made the Tankoviches leave. (Tr., p.1770, Ls.5-12.) Despite everything that

happened, no arrests were made that day. (Tr., p.1924, Ls.17-18.) Mr. Requena had never met the Tankoviches prior to this incident. (Tr., p.1772, Ls.20-21.)

Julie Oliver, another neighbor, testified next. She testified that she called 911 when she saw the men get out of the pickup truck. (Tr., p.1819, Ls.11-17.) According to Ms. Oliver, the truck had the phrase, "Born 2 Kill" written on it. (Tr., p.1818, Ls.12-15.) She also observed both confrontations at the Requena house. (Tr., p.1819, Ls.21-25.)

William Tankovich's daughter, Tiffany, testified and identified tattoos on William and Ira Tankovich. (Tr., p.2025, L.1 – p.2029, L.22.) She also testified that the reason that the pickup stopped in front of Mr. Requena's residence was to ask Mr. Requena if he had some cable wire because they saw the A.K. Electric sign on Mr. Requena's truck. (Tr., p.2033, Ls.9-10; 2039, Ls.17-18.) Also, she testified that before William and Frank Tankovich returned to the Requena residence, she heard William Tankovich say he was going to call 911. (Tr., p.2034, Ls.10-12.)

At the third trial, unlike the first two, the State sought to introduce expert witness testimony regarding William and Ira Tankovich's tattoos. (Tr., p.2063, Ls.2-11.) The court first conducted an offer of proof to determine whether this witness, Tim Higgins of the Idaho Department of Correction, could testify. (Tr., p.2063, Ls.17-25.) In the offer of proof, Mr. Higgins testified that he was the investigation and intelligence coordinator for the Idaho Department of Correction and had been employed in that position since 2007. (Tr., p.2064, Ls.1-7.) His position was created, "due to our problems with threat groups and gangs in our prison system becoming severe." (Tr., p.2066, Ls.11-16.)

Because most of the violence inside the prison system involved gangs, he had been educated about gangs since 1993. (Tr., p.2067, Ls.17-22.) Part of his training

was “identifying symbols, signs, tattoos and such on people who move through our prison system.” (Tr., p.2068, Ls.19-24.) Mr. Higgins identified evidence of gang activity based on those symbols. (Tr., p.2069, Ls.1-3.) Because, “the white supremacists are the second largest security threat group in our prison system,” about “a third of my screen and activity involves looking at white supremacy groups of various sorts.” (Tr., p.2071, Ls.17-21.)

Mr. Higgins testified that the white supremacy groups fell into three basic categories: Aryan neo-Nazi, Aryan neo-Confederate, and Christian identity religious groups. (Tr., p.2077, Ls.1-3.) “Each one has its own set of tattoos and identifiers that allows you to be able to tell the difference between the two of them.” (Tr., p.2077, Ls.3-6.) He testified that State’s Exhibit 6, a photo of a tattoo of an inverted star with the words, “Aryan Pride” written over the top, was commonly known as a pentagram and was associated with satanic groups; combined with the Aryan Pride language, Mr. Higgins concluded that this was an Aryan neo-Nazi-type symbol. (Tr., p.2079, Ls.3-9.) Regarding State’s Exhibit 7, he stated that it was a Nazi war eagle and would typically be associated with an Aryan neo-Nazi. (Tr., p.2079, Ls.16-18.) Regarding State’s exhibit 8, he stated that they were “bolts,” which were “SS symbols,” and were associated with “Aryan white supremacy neo-Nazis.” (Tr., p.2080, Ls.3-6.) Regarding State’s Exhibit 9, he testified that the words, “Chris forever,” were not gang-related, but that a three-leaf clover was, “a very traditional Aryan symbol that’s been used since 1960 in various Aryan groups.” (Tr., p.2080, Ls.8-16.) He also identified the “three dots,” which, to a gang member, represented the hospital, the morgue, and the prison. (Tr., p.2080, Ls.17-22.) Mr. Higgins believed all of the tattoos denoted Aryan neo-Nazis. (Tr., p.2081, Ls.1-8.)

During cross-examination, Mr. Higgins acknowledged that a three-leaf clover was also a symbol of Ireland and he had not studied the history of the clover. (Tr., p.2084, Ls.6-8.) He did not have a degree in history. (Tr., p.2084, Ls.16-17.) He also acknowledged that the “three dots” had its origins in an Hispanic gang. (Tr., p.2085, Ls.23-25.)

The district court permitted Mr. Higgins to testify, but not without reservations, calling the issue, “a very problematic question for the Court.” (Tr., p.2102, Ls.4-7.) The court did not permit him to testify regarding all the tattoos – the court felt that the “Aryan Pride” tattoo spoke for itself, and the court did not feel that the “three dots” necessarily had white supremacist connections. (Tr., p.2108, Ls.6-12, p.2112, Ls.12-23.) The district court gave a long ruling on Mr. Higgins’ testimony (Tr., p.2102, L.3 – p.2117, L.7), but summed up its ruling as following:

I don’t think that Mr. Higgins needs to lay an extensive foundation to be able to identify these two tattoos in question.

Now, if his job with the prison system includes screening of symbols, signs, tattoos, to identify whether or not they are associated with certain groups, that could be problematic in the prison setting, then I think that that certainly would be sufficient.

And then he can go on to testify that he’s seen tattoos like the ones on the two exhibits that we’ve discussed and characterize them as I’ve limited.

I think the State does not need to go into great detail to lay their foundation to testify to what I’ve allowed them to testify to. If you go into it any further than you need to, you might get yourself into come problems in terms of unduly prejudicing the jury in this matter.

(Tr., p.2117, L. 7 –p.2118, L.5.)

Mr. Higgins then proceeded to testify in front of the jury. He began by explaining that he worked for the Department of Correction as the investigation and intelligence coordinator, identifying and categorizing symbols and tattoos. (Tr., p.2128, Ls.1-22.)

He was asked to identify Exhibit 8 and stated, “what I see here are Nazi SS bolts commonly worn by – .” (Tr., p.2129, Ls.5-6.) Counsel for Mr. Tankovich objected, stating, “he’s just said that there’s no other possible meaning; that this is a Nazi SS tattoo.” (Tr., p.2131, Ls.4-5.) Counsel moved for a mistrial; the court felt that the testimony did not “in any way” justify a mistrial, but sustained the objection on foundational grounds. (Tr., p.2131, Ls.6-21.) Counsel had understood the court’s ruling to be that Mr. Higgins could not testify to the tattoo’s meaning to Mr. Tankovich and believed that such testimony had violated the court’s order. (Tr., p.2132, Ls.2-13.) The court believed that Mr. Higgins had only testified to “what it means to Mr. Higgins so far.” (Tr., p.2133, Ls.5-9.)

Mr. Higgins then testified that he had seen this specific symbol, “as part of [his] duties” about 100 times in the past year. (Tr., p.2137, Ls.1-3.) Mr. Higgins had, “seen symbols of this tattoo on people associated with Aryan neo-Nazi belief systems or white supremacy belief systems.” (Tr., p.2137, Ls.9-11.)

Mr. Higgins was then asked to examine Exhibit 9, and he explained, “the three-leaf clover that are embedded in the word is what comes to my attention.” (Tr., p.2138, Ls.3-4.) Mr. Higgins asserted, “these are common symbols worn by Aryan white supremacists inside.” (Tr., p.2139, Ls.12-13.) Counsel for Mr. Tankovich objected to the last part of the answer but the objection was overruled. (Tr., p.2139, Ls.14-17.) Counsel for the Tankoviches declined to cross-examine Mr. Higgins and the State rested. (Tr., p.2140, Ls.1-12.)

Mr. Tankovich then presented the testimony of Linda Lane, who was working at the Kootenai County 911 dispatch center on the date of the incident. (Tr., p.2150, Ls.9-22.) She testified that she received a call from Mr. Tankovich’s cell phone about

approximately a block away from Mr. Requena's residence on the date in question.  
(Tr., p.2153, Ls.6 p .2154, L.13.)

Mr. Tankovich was convicted of the two charges. The district court imposed concurrent sentences of five years, with two years determinate, and the court suspended the sentences and placed Mr. Tankovich on probation. (R., p.715.) Mr. Tankovich appealed, and he asserts that the district court erred by permitting Mr. Higgins to testify.

## ISSUE

Did the district court err by permitting Mr. Higgins to testify because part of his testimony was not relevant and unfairly prejudiced Mr. Tankovich?

## ARGUMENT

### The District Court Erred By Permitting Mr. Higgins To Testify Because Part of His Testimony Was Not Relevant And Unfairly Prejudiced Mr. Tankovich

#### A. Introduction

Mr. Tankovich asserts that the district court erred by permitting an expert witness to testify regarding the meaning of Mr. Tankovich's tattoos because the testimony suggested that Mr. Tankovich was a member of a gang or had been to prison, which is both not relevant and unfairly prejudicial.

#### B. The District Court Erred By Permitting Mr. Higgins To Testify Because Part of His Testimony Was Not Relevant And Unfairly Prejudiced Mr. Tankovich

Mr. Tankovich first asserts that suggestions that Mr. Tankovich had been in a gang or to prison were not relevant. Whether evidence is relevant is an issue of law. *State v. Atkinson*, 124 Idaho 816, 819 (Ct. App. 1993). The district court permitted Mr. Higgins to testify more than just his understanding of the meaning of the tattoos. For example, when asked about the lightning bolt tattoos, Mr. Higgins testified that he had seen this specific symbol, "as part of [his] duties" about 100 times in the past year. (Tr., p.2137, Ls.1-3.) Mr. Higgins had, "seen symbols of this tattoo on people associated with Aryan neo-Nazi belief systems or white supremacy belief systems." (Tr., p.2137, Ls.9-11.) Mr. Higgins, therefore, explained that people with the tattoo harbor more than mere prejudice, but that they were part of a "belief system" which is widespread in prison, as he had seen the tattoo over 100 times as part of his official duties, which the jury knew were with the Department of Correction. And while Mr. Tankovich's motive to commit was relevant to the instant charges, his association

with a gang was not, nor was the frequency with which Mr. Higgins saw this tattoo in the prison system.

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