7-20-2012

State v. Tankovich Respondent's Brief 1 Dckt. 38813

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

ARGUMENT

Tankovich Has Failed To Show The District Court Abused Its Discretion In Allowing The Limited Testimony Of Tim Higgins

A. Introduction

Tankovich claims the district court erred “by permitting [Mr. Higgins] to testify regarding the meaning of Mr. Tankovich’s tattoos because the testimony suggested that Mr. Tankovich was a member of a gang or had been to prison, which is both not relevant and unfairly prejudicial.” (Appellant’s Brief, p.13.) Tankovich is incorrect. To the extent Tankovich’s claims are preserved, a review of the record reveals that Mr. Higgins never testified or “suggested” that Tankovich “was a member of a gang or had been to prison.” Tankovich’s claim of error on this basis, therefore, fails.

B. Standard Of Review

The trial court has broad discretion in the admission and exclusion of evidence and its decision to admit or exclude evidence will be reversed only when there has been a clear abuse of that discretion. State v. Howard, 135 Idaho 727, 721, 24 P.3d 44, 48 (2001); State v. Robinett, 141 Idaho 110, 112, 106 P.3d 436, 438 (2005).

C. Tankovich Has Failed To Establish Error In The Admission Of Mr. Higgins’ Testimony

At trial, the court permitted the state to introduce evidence that (1) Tankovich’s brother Ira has tattoos on his calves of inverted stars with the words “Aryan Pride” (Tr., p.2025, Ls.12-22; Exhibit 6); and (2) Tankovich has a tattoo of

the SS “bolts” symbols on his inner arm (Tr., p.2026, L.14 – p. 2027, L.6; p.2136, L.1 – p.2137, L.11; Exhibit 8), and a tattoo on his chest of a three-leaf clover, which is “common symbol worn by Aryan white supremacists” (Tr., p.2028, L.15 – p.2029, L.3; p.2137, L.12 – p.2139, L.13; Exhibit 9).³ The court also granted the state’s request to call Tim Higgins in order to explain the significance of the Tankoviches’ tattoos.⁴ In order to ensure the necessary foundation could be established for Mr. Higgins’ testimony, the court conducted a hearing outside the presence of the jury. (Tr., pp.2062-2121.) During that hearing, Mr. Higgins testified that he “provide[s] administrative oversight for three programs statewide with the Department of Corrections both in probation and parole and in the prison system.” (Tr., p.2064, Ls.8-12.) The three programs include “the investigations program,” “the criminal intelligence program,” and “the security threat group management program.” (Tr., p.2064, Ls.13-16.) Mr. Higgins explained that “security threat groups” could mean criminal gang members, extremist groups, militia groups, white supremacist organizations, and “various other groups that would tend to be problematic inside a prison setting.” (Tr., p.2067, Ls.4-8.) Mr.

³ The state offered the tattoo evidence as probative of the Tankoviches’ motive and intent in interacting with Ken Requena. (Tr., p.78-79, 84.) It appears the court held a hearing on this issue on August 10, 2010 (see R., Vol. 1, ROA at p.10, 8/11/2010 entry); however, the transcript of that hearing is not included in the record. The only transcript of proceedings on August 10, 2010, relates to Ira Tankovich’s sentencing. (See Tr., Table of Contents and pp.1474-1509.) Based on what can be gleaned from the court’s comments at later proceedings, the court concluded the evidence was admissible on the issue of intent. (See Tr., p.1519, Ls.17-25; p.2102, L.9 – p.2103, L.12.)

⁴ Indeed, the court suggested the state needed to call an expert on this issue (Tr., p.79-80) and one of Tankovich’s initial objections to the tattoo evidence before the state designated an expert was the lack of “foundation . . . as to what these tattoos mean” (Tr., p.66, Ls.5-8).

Higgins also explained how the Tankoviches' tattoos were representative of those worn by members of Aryan neo-Nazi groups or "gangs." (Tr., pp.2076-2093.)

Following the voir dire examination of Mr. Higgins, Tankovich advised the court:

[M]y biggest concern is that letting this witness testify, all it's going to do is attempt to inflame the jury and say that these people are part of a gang. He has testified that that's only [sic] his expertise is in identifying if people are part of a gang or a security threat or whatever nonsense they're calling it these days, and he has given you no information that he is at all experienced in just testifying about relevant sorts of symbols. He has no doctorate, no degree in history. When discussing these symbols, he says that he hasn't studied the other uses of them.

And more importantly, your Honor, it seems clear to me that what the State's hoping to do is have this witness testify and say these people are part of a gang. That's the only purpose of this testimony, even if he doesn't say it.

(Tr., p.2096, Ls.4-21.) Tankovich further argued that allowing Mr. Higgins to testify ran the "risk of letting the jury assume that they're in a gang when there's absolutely no evidence of that in this case." (Tr., p.2097, Ls.18-22.)

The state responded:

Your Honor, with regards to the potential risk that counsel is referring to, I think that that's something that we have begun to address, certainly, in terms of the nature of the testimony that we'd be presenting to talk about things in terms of risk groups and rather than gangs and try to address some of the concerns the Court has.

We wouldn't be seeking from this witness to testify about these particular defendants and their beliefs, rather, it's specialized testimony that this individual has based on years of experience and training relating to his knowledge of gangs and risk groups that is a part of his everyday work and has been a part of his everyday work for his entire career as a corrections officer.

(Tr., p.2100, Ls.9-24.)

The district court noted “the foundation that Mr. Higgins has laid here in the preliminary examination could be highly prejudicial in terms of exceeding the boundaries of what it is that would be relevant” since the Tankoviches were “not on trial for being members of a gang.” (Tr., p.2105, Ls.4-13.) Nevertheless, the court noted the need for expert testimony on the symbolism of the tattoos, which would be a “legitimate purpose of Mr. Higgins’s testimony.” (Tr., p.2108, L.13 – p.2109, L.8.) Balancing the potential prejudice that could result from Mr. Higgins’ foundational testimony against the need for his expertise, the court ruled that his testimony

should not be presented in any way to infer or to imply that [the Tankoviches] had ever been in prison before or that any of these individuals were necessarily current members of any gangs or any gang affiliation or any of those things that Mr. Higgins is primarily entrusted to do in his everyday job.

(Tr., p.2109, Ls.18-25.) Accordingly, the court cautioned the state to avoid extensive inquiry into Mr. Higgins’ background working for the Department of Correction in order to prevent any inference that the defendants “had been in prison or that they were members of specific gangs.” (Tr., p.2113, Ls.3-14.) The court further clarified that Mr. Higgins could testify about his “general title” and “duties” and suggested that the prosecutor show Mr. Higgins the photographs of the tattoos, ask him about his familiarity and knowledge of them (Tr., p.2113, Ls.15-23), but that Mr. Higgins should not “characterize these tattoos as being

associated with gang members” (Tr., p.2120, Ls.12-15).⁵ Consistent with the court’s ruling, Mr. Higgins never used the word “gang” in his testimony, and, contrary to Tankovich’s claim on appeal (Appellant’s Brief, p.13), Mr. Higgins did not testify or even suggest that Tankovich was ever in prison or in a gang (see generally Tr., pp.2127-29, 2135-2140).

As required by the district court’s ruling, Mr. Higgins’ testimony regarding his experience was very limited. Mr. Higgins testified that he works at the Idaho Department of Correction as the “investigative and intelligence program director” and that, as part of his duties, he identifies and categorizes symbols and tattoos in relation to the Department of Correction’s “population” (Tr., p.2128, Ls.1-10); both of these areas were proper under the court’s order (Tr., p.2113, Ls.15-17). In discussing the symbolism behind the lightning bolts tattoo, Mr. Higgins testified, without objection, that he had “seen this specific symbol, as part of [his] duties,” approximately “100 times in the last year.” (Tr., p.2136, L.1 – p.2137, L.3.) As to that same tattoo, Mr. Higgins further testified, again without objection, that he had “seen symbols of this tattoo on people associated with Aryan neo-Nazi belief systems or white supremacy belief systems.” (Tr., p.2137, Ls.9-11.)

On appeal, Tankovich cites the foregoing testimony and argues that “his association with a gang was not [relevant], nor was the frequency with which Mr. Higgins saw this tattoo in the prison system.” (Appellant’s Brief, pp.13-14.) Mr.

⁵ To be clear, although the court ruled that Mr. Higgins should not “characterize these tattoos as being associated with gang members” (Tr., p.2120, Ls.13-15), Mr. Higgins was not prohibited from “mention[ing] gang activity because that [is] part of Mr. Higgins’s work through the Department of Corrections” (Tr., p.2120, L.23 – p.2121, L.1).

Higgins did not, however, testify that Tankovich had an association with a gang; rather, his testimony was that the lightning bolt tattoo was associated with a particular belief system. Moreover, Tankovich never objected to this particular testimony as irrelevant, nor was his preliminary objection to Mr. Higgins' testimony based upon the relevance of Tankovich's "association with a gang," but was based on an alleged lack of experience with symbols and the risk of unfair prejudice.⁶ (Tr., p.2096, Ls.4-21; p.2097, Ls.18-22.) Tankovich's objections on these bases is insufficient to "preserve a separate and different basis for excluding the evidence." State v. Vondenkamp, 141 Idaho 878, 885, 119 P.3d 653, 660 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing State v. Norton, 134 Idaho 875, 880, 11 P.3d 494, 499 (Ct. App. 2000)).

Tankovich also complains about Mr. Higgins' testimony that three-leaf clover tattoos are "common symbols worn by Aryan white supremacists inside." (Appellant's Brief, p.14 (quoting Tr., p.2139, Ls.12-13).) Tankovich argues that use of the word "inside" was not "relevant" because, he claims, it left the jury "with the impression that the tattoo was a prison tattoo, and the unmistakable inference the jury would draw was that Mr. Tankovich had been to prison." (Appellant's Brief, p.14.) Although Tankovich objected to and moved to "strike th[e] last part of the answer," which the court overruled, he did not state a basis for the objection. (Tr., p.2139, Ls.14-17.) Because Tankovich's objections to Mr. Higgins' testimony were based on Mr. Higgins' experience and the concern for

⁶ Tankovich also did not object to this testimony on the basis that it was beyond the scope of the court's ruling. To the extent he is complaining on appeal that it was, any such claim is not preserved.

prejudice, and because he stated no other basis for his specific objection at the time Mr. Higgins testified, this Court should decline to consider Tankovich's argument that Mr. Higgins' use of the word "inside" was irrelevant.

Even if the Court entertains Tankovich's relevance argument, it is difficult to understand how the use of a single word in a witness's testimony can be subject to a relevance analysis. The gist of Mr. Higgins' challenged statement was that the three-leaf-clover is a symbol worn by Aryan white supremacists. This was relevant testimony. That Mr. Higgins' testimony incorporated reference to his experience with those on the "inside" does not make the testimony any less relevant even if he "could simply have testified to his understanding of the tattoo without" using the word "inside". (Appellant's Brief, p.14.)

In addition to his relevance argument, Tankovich asserts Mr. Higgins' testimony was "unfairly prejudicial." (Appellant's Brief, p.15.) This argument, like Tankovich's relevance argument, is premised on an incorrect characterization of Mr. Higgins' testimony as "suggesting" that Tankovich "was part of a white supremacist gang or had been in prison." (Appellant's Brief, p.15.) While "[e]vidence of a person's incarceration is prejudicial" (Appellant's Brief, p.15), Mr. Higgins never testified that Tankovich was, in fact, in prison nor did he imply as much. Just because Mr. Higgins' experience arises from his interaction with the prison population does not mean that his knowledge about tattoos only applies to people who are in prison and he certainly never testified that only prisoners have such tattoos or that such tattoos can only be obtained while in prison; indeed, such a proposition would be absurd given the safe assumption that there are no

tattoo parlors in prison. Tankovich's associated claim that Mr. Higgins implied he was in a "gang" fails because Mr. Higgins never used the word "gang," much less suggested that Tankovich was involved in one.

To the extent Tankovich preserved his relevance and prejudice arguments related to the specific portions of Mr. Higgins' testimony he challenges on appeal, he has failed to show error.

D. Even If This Court Finds Some Error Associated With Mr. Higgins' Testimony, Any Error Was Harmless

Even if this Court finds some error associated with Mr. Higgins' testimony about which Tankovich complains, any error does not require reversal.

Idaho Criminal Rule 52 provides that "[a]ny error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded." I.C.R. 52. "The [harmless error] inquiry is whether, beyond a reasonable doubt, a rational jury would have convicted [the defendant] even without the admission of the challenged evidence." State v. Johnson, 148 Idaho 664, 669, 227 P.3d 918, 923 (2010) (citing Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967); Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 18 (1999)); see also State v. Perry, 150 Idaho 209, 227, 245 P.3d 961, 979 (2010).

There is no dispute that Tankovich called Ken Requena a "beaner." (See Tr., p.2190, Ls.16-25 (counsel, in closing, arguing there was no "dispute" that the "Tankoviches made ignorant statements" about Ken Requena in calling him a "beaner"); Exhibit 10 (transcript of 911 call, which was admitted as Defendant's Exhibit D, wherein caller says "a beaner pulled a gun on him").) Tankovich

acknowledged as much (id.), but argued that his actions were the result of Ken pulling a gun on him when he allegedly just wanted to buy some wire from Ken, and were not the product of any racial animus (see generally Tr., pp.2187-97). There was, however, significant evidence contradicting this defense.

In addition to Requenas' testimony about the Tankoviches behavior preceding the first interaction and Ken Requena's denial that the only thing he recalled hearing was Frank saying, "Come over here" (Tr., p.1779, Ls.5-12), the Requenas' neighbor, Julie Oliver, testified that one of the Tankoviches told her to "shut up," corroborating the Requenas' claim that the Tankoviches were behaving aggressively. (Tr., p.1819, Ls.1-12.) There was also substantial evidence of the Tankoviches' racist intent, which included the swastika and the "Born 2 Kill" inscriptions on their truck, Ira's "Aryan Pride" tattoos (Exhibit 6), which were not addressed by Mr. Higgins' testimony⁷, and the Tankoviches' repeated use of the word "beaner" in referring to Ken Requena.

Ultimately, this case was about whether the jury believed the Requenas and their neighbors or the Tankoviches with their swastika, their racially-charged tattoos, and their undisputed use of the word "beaner." The jury's verdicts reflect how they resolved the discrepancies between the two versions of events. This case was not about, and did not hinge, on some speculative inference that Tankovich "was a member of a gang and/or had been in prison."⁸ (Appellant's

⁷ The court did not allow Mr. Higgins to testify about Ira's tattoos, concluding those "tattoos on his calves speak for themselves." (Tr., p.2111, Ls.7-14.)

⁸ It is also worth noting that, at the conclusion of Mr. Higgins' testimony, Tankovich requested a "limiting instruction informing the jury that they are to take

Brief, p.17.) Thus, to the extent the Court agrees with Tankovich's claims of relevance or prejudice in relation to Mr. Higgins' testimony, any error in that regard is harmless and does not require reversal of Tankovich's convictions.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests that this Court affirm Tankovich's convictions for malicious harassment and conspiracy to commit malicious harassment.